city of

CINCINNATI #

RETIREMENT

City of Cincinnati Retirement System
Board of Trustees Meeting

Agenda

December 4, 2025 /2:00 P.M.
City Hall, Council Chambers and via Zoom

Members CRS Staff
Bill Moller, Chair Jon Salstrom
Tom Gamel, Vice Chair

Kathy Rahtz

Mark Menkhaus, Jr. Law
Monica Morton Kevin Frank
Seth Walsh

Aliya Riddle

Sonya Morris

Tom West

Call to Order
Public Comment

Approval of Minutes
o November 6, 2025 (2-4)

Report on Benefits & Investment Committee

Informational — Staff Report
e Marquette Investment Report (5-7)

e Staff Update
e S&P and Moody’s Bond Rating Report
e Fiduciary Audit Recommendations Update
(20-22)
Old Business

New Business
e CEM Pension Administration Benchmarking Presentation
(23-48)
e 2026 Budget Review (49-60)
¢ Board and Committee 2026 Schedule

Adjournment

Next Meeting: Thursday, January 8, 2025, 2:00 P.M. City Hall Council Chambers and via Zoom



city of

CINCINNATI

RETIREMENT

City of Cincinnati Retirement System
Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes
November 6, 2025 / 2:00 P.M.

City Hall = Council Chambers and remote

Board Members Administration
Bill Moller, Chair Jon Salstrom
Tom Gamel, Co-Chair

Kathy Rahtz

Mark Menkhaus Jr.

Monica Morton Law

Seth Walsh Kevin Frank
Aliya Riddle

Sonya Morris

Tom West

CALL TO ORDER

Chair Moller called the meeting to order at 2:07 p.m. and a roll call of attendance was taken. Trustees
Moller, Rahtz, Menkhaus, Morton, Riddle, Morris, and West were present. Trustees Gamel and Walsh
were absent.

PUBLIC COMMENT
No public comment.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Trustee Rahtz moved to approve the minutes of the Board meeting of October 2, 2025. The motion was
seconded by Trustee Morris. The minutes were approved by unanimous roll call vote.

Report on Investment Committee

Trustee Morris: There was one motion to approve the Marquette quarterly investment report. Since the
motion came from the committee, no second was required. The motion was approved by unanimous roll
call vote.

Executive Session

Chair Moller moved to enter Executive Session pursuant to the Ohio Revised 121.22(G) and

Municipal Code Section 121-7 to conference with our attorneys, concerning disputes that are subject to
pending or imminent court action. The was motion was seconded by Trustee Rahtz and approved by
unanimous roll call vote.




Budget Amendment

Chair Moller moved to amend the fiscal year 2025 operating budget, as recommended by staff, to reflect
updated expenditures and revenues necessary for continued effective administration and safeguarding
of the system. The amendment authorizes the Executive Director to implement the revised budget and
make any related administrative adjustments consistent with the Board’s approval. The was motion was
seconded by Trustee Rahtz and approved by unanimous roll call vote.

Informational — Staff Report

Marquette Investment Report

At the Investment Committee meeting, the report showed that year-to-date performance is
10.9%, slightly below the 11.2% benchmark. The 1-year return is 10.3%, marginally
outperforming the 10.2% benchmark. Overall, performance is very close to benchmarks, with a
slight lead on a 1-year basis.

Index Transfer Update

Most of the transition has been completed. The U.S. index transitions were completed first. The
ACWI ex U.S. transition took additional time but is now largely finished. Approximately
$100,000 in the foreign accounts still needs to settle. All other transition activity is complete.

Staff Update

Interviews are in progress for the Administrative Specialist position. The Investment Analyst position is
close to being posted.

Open Enrollment Update
Currently in progress with no issues reported. Finalizing details with EyeMed, and no issues are
anticipated there either.

CEM Benchmarking Update
CEM will attend in December to present the operations portion of their update, and in January/February
to present the investment portion.

Fiduciary Audit Recommendations Update
No updates at this time. A few items will be completed once CEM Benchmarking results are received.

Old Business
No Old Business to discuss.

New Business
No New Business to discuss.

Adjournment
Following a motion to adjourn by Trustee Morris and seconded by Trustee Rahtz. The Board approved

the motion by unanimous roll call vote. The meeting was adjourned at 2:37 p.m.

Meeting video link: https://archive.org/details/crs-board-11-6-25

Next Meeting: Thursday, December 4, 2025, at 2:00 p.m. — City Hall Council Chambers and via Zoom


https://archive.org/details/crs-board-11-6-25




il
WY MarquetteAssociates

city of
CINCINNATI 8

RETIREMENT

Cincinnati Retirement
Monthly Report

Executive Summary
October 31, 2025

- _
MV MarquetteAssociates



Total Fund Composite

6
Monthly Report

As of October 31, 2025

Market Value % of Portfolio Policy % AI-:-gcr:g:i‘:Jn Difference ' Last Month
- - Total Fund Composite
Fixed Income Composite 522,152,435 20.8 22.5 564,647,242 -42,494,807 o
Private Debt Composite 145,711,020 5.8 6.5 163,120,314  -17,409,204  Beginning Market Value 2,511,128,042
U.S. Equity Composite 670,001,011 26.7 28.5 715,219,840  -45,218,829 Net Cash Flow 24,946,752
Non-U.S. Equity Composite 409,284,460 16.3 16.0 401,526,928 7,757,532 Gain/Loss 23,362,007
Volatility Risk Premium Composite 60,449,092 2.4 2.5 62,738,582 -2,289,490 Ending Market Value 2.509,543,297
Real Estate Composite 149,555,354 6.0 6.0 150,572,598 -1,017,243
Infrastructure Composite 254,978,758 10.2 10.0 250,954,330 4,024,428
Private Equity Composite 282,819,020 1.3 8.0 200,763,464 82,055,556
Total Fund Composite 2,509,543,297 100.0 100.0 2,509,543,297
TMo 3Mo YD  1Yr 2Yrs 3Yrs 5Yrs 7Yrs  10Yrs SI '“CE‘):F’:;“
Total Fund Composite 0.9 4.8 12.1 13.3 15.6 12.1 10.8 9.1 8.4 8.9 Jun 85
Target Benchmark 1.1 4.8 12.4 13.2 15.9 12.0 9.8 9.1 8.5 -
Actuarial Rate 7.5% 0.6 1.8 6.2 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5
Fixed Income Composite 0.6 29 7.7 7.1 9.3 6.6 1.6 3.2 3.2 5.1 Dec 95
Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 0.6 2.9 6.8 6.2 8.3 5.6 -0.2 2.3 1.9 4.3
Private Debt Composite 0.0 0.1 33 5.7 8.2 10.0 5.3 - - 5.2 Oct 20
Blmbg. U.S. Aggregate Index 0.6 2.9 6.8 6.2 8.3 5.6 -0.2 2.3 1.9 -0.3
MSCI Private Capital Global Private Debt 0.0 0.0 5.5 6.1 8.0 8.7 9.6 7.7 7.8 9.5
U.S. Equity Composite 1.9 8.2 16.2 19.5 27.9 19.6 17.9 13.8 12.7 10.0 Mar 89
Russell 3000 Index 2.1 8.1 16.8 20.8 29.1 21.8 16.7 15.3 14.1 11.2
Non-U.S. Equity Composite 1.6 9.0 28.3 25.1 24.3 20.3 12.1 8.8 7.6 6.4 Jun 93
MSCI AC World ex USA (Net) 2.0 9.4 28.6 24.9 24.6 20.3 11.2 9.1 7.7 -
Volatility Risk Premium Composite 1.7 5.5 A3 11.9 13.8 12.9 - - - 7.6 Feb 22
Cboe S&P 500 PutWrite Index 2.2 5.6 6.4 11.2 14.5 13.6 12.4 8.4 7.7 8.5
Real Estate Composite 0.1 14 3.3 4.4 -0.9 -4.2 3.9 3.9 5.4 4.8 Sep 07
NFI-ODCE 0.0 0.3 2.2 2.8 -1.8 -5.6 25 2.5 4.0 3.7
NCREIF Property Index 0.0 1.2 3.7 4.6 0.5 -2.6 3.8 3.9 5.0 5.5
Infrastructure Composite -0.2 2.1 6.9 9.6 8.9 9.3 9.3 8.9 7.2 8.4 Sep 08
3 Month T-Bill +4% 0.7 2.1 7.0 8.5 9.1 9.0 7.2 6.8 6.2 54
Private Equity Composite 0.0 1.0 5.3 7.4 8.0 7.1 134 124 124 8.8 Aug 93
MSCI Private Capital Global All Private Equity 0.0 0.0 6.1 7.0 7.5 6.1 12.4 13.2 13.7 14.9
!
WP MarquetteAssociates ?



DISCLOSURES

Marquette Associates, Inc. (“Marquette”) has prepared this document for the exclusive use by the client or third party for which it was prepared. The information
herein was obtained from various sources, including but not limited to third party investment managers, the client's custodian(s) accounting statements,
commercially available databases, and other economic and financial market data sources.

The sources of information used in this document are believed to be reliable. Marquette has not independently verified all of the information in this document
and its accuracy cannot be guaranteed. Marquette accepts no liability for any direct or consequential losses arising from its use. The information provided herein
is as of the date appearing in this material only and is subject to change without prior notice. Thus, all such information is subject to independent verification, and
we urge clients to compare the information set forth in this statement with the statements you receive directly from the custodian in order to ensure accuracy of
all account information. Past performance does not guarantee future results and investing involves risk of loss. No graph, chart, or formula can, in and of itself,
be used to determine which securities or investments to buy or sell.

Account and Composite characteristics data is derived from underlying holdings uploaded to the Investment Metrics Platform (”Platform”); the Platform then
uses data for the noted time period from Standard & Poor’s (equity holdings) and ICE (fixed income holdings) to populate the reporting templates. Some
securities, including cash equivalents, may not be accurately classified during this population process due to missing identifiers or unavailable data. As a result,
characteristics in this report may differ from other data sources. For example, Bloomberg indices may include additional rating information which may differ from
the S&P rating used by the Platform.

Forward-looking statements, including without limitation any statement or prediction about a future event contained in this presentation, are based on a variety
of estimates and assumptions by Marquette, including, but not limited to, estimates of future operating results, the value of assets and market conditions. These
estimates and assumptions, including the risk assessments and projections referenced, are inherently uncertain and are subject to numerous business, industry,
market, regulatory, geo-political, competitive, and financial risks that are outside of Marquette’s control. There can be no assurance that the assumptions made
in connection with any forward-looking statement will prove accurate, and actual results may differ materially.

The inclusion of any forward-looking statement herein should not be regarded as an indication that Marquette considers forward-looking statements to be a
reliable prediction of future events. The views contained herein are those of Marquette and should not be taken as financial advice or a recommendation to buy
or sell any security. Any forecasts, figures, opinions or investment techniques and strategies described are intended for informational purposes only. They are
based on certain assumptions and current market conditions, and although accurate at the time of writing, are subject to change without prior notice. Opinions,
estimates, projections, and comments on financial market trends constitute our judgment and are subject to change without notice. Marquette expressly disclaims
all liability in respect to actions taken based on any or all of the information included or referenced in this document. The information is being provided based
on the understanding that each recipient has sufficient knowledge and experience to evaluate the merits and risks of investing.

Marquette is an independent investment adviser registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended. Registration does not imply a certain level
of skill or training. More information about Marquette including our investment strategies, fees and objectives can be found in our ADV Part 2, which is available
upon request or on our website.

-
MV MarquetteAssociates



S&P Global
Ratings RatingsDirect®

Research Update:

Cincinnati Series 2025A GO Bonds And 2025A-C
Economic Development Revenue Bonds Rated 'AA';
Outlook Stable

October 30, 2025

. Primary Contact
Overview
Stephanie Megas
e S&P Global Ratings assigned its 'AA' long-term rating to the City of Cincinnati, Ohio's $37.925 Englewood
million series 2025A unlimited-tax various purpose general obligation (GO) improvement 1-303-248-6397
bonds, $3.17 million series 2025A nontax economic development revenue bonds, $24.25 million stephanie.megas

series 2025B nontax economic development revenue bonds, and $40 million series 2025C @spglobal.com

nontax economic development revenue bonds. Secondary Contact

e Atthe same time, we affirmed our 'AA' long-term rating on Cincinnati's GO debt and nontax-
revenue bonds outstanding.

Benjamin D Gallovic
Dayton
1-312-233-7070
benjamin.gallovic

e The outlook is stable.

@spglobal.com

Rationale

Security

Cincinnati's full faith credit and resources and an agreement to levy ad valorem property taxes
without limit as to rate or amount secure the bonds. As per the city's charter, the levy used to
support the debt service is not subject to the state's 10-mill limitation.

GO bond proceeds are expected to finance various projects under the city's capital improvement
plan (CIP).

Cincinnati's nontax revenue bonds are special obligations secured by certain nontax revenue of
the city. Nontax revenue includes no ad valorem tax revenue and is only a portion of general fund
revenue. However, bond documents do not prohibit the city from using other revenue to pay debt
service.

We rate the nontax revenue bonds at the same level as our view of the city's general
creditworthiness because there is no limit on the fungibility of resources available for debt

www.spglobal.com/ratingsdirect October 30,2025 1


https://www.capitaliq.com/CIQDotNet/RatingsDirect/GCPTearsheet.aspx?entityid=3255
mailto:stephanie.megas@spglobal.com
mailto:stephanie.megas@spglobal.com
mailto:benjamin.gallovic@spglobal.com
mailto:benjamin.gallovic@spglobal.com

Cincinnati Series 2025A GO Bonds And 2025A-C Economic Development Revenue Bonds Rated 'AA’"; Outlook Stable 9

service and because Cincinnati's ability to pay the obligations is closely tied to its operations, as
reflected in its general creditworthiness.

The series A nontax revenue bond proceeds will fund renovations to complete the city’s Over the
Rhine Health Center. The series B nontax revenue bond proceeds will fund the construction of
Cincinnati’s Findlay Community Center. The series C nontax revenue bond proceeds will support
the construction of a hotel adjacent to the city’s new convention center, currently slated to open
in January 2026. Cincinnati is contributing only a portion toward the estimated $536 million
construction project and plans to utilize municipal income tax revenue to repay debt service on
the bonds. The city expects to be reimbursed for debt service from hotel tax revenue pursuant to
an agreement with the developer.

Credit highlights

The 'AA' rating reflects Cincinnati’s role as the driving economic force for the southwest Ohio-
northern Kentucky region, and strong financial operations and robust reserve and liquidity
position that will continue, guided by a sophisticated management team with well-established
long-term planning and financial management policies and practices. Cincinnati emerged from
the most recent recession better than anticipated and is seeing significant and ongoing
economic expansions that will further boost economic growth and stability. Management’s
ongoing efforts to attract new private business investment, retain employers, and redevelop key
commercial areas provide some insulation from weakening economic conditions across the
country (for more information, see: "Economic Outlook U.S. Q4 2025: Below-Trend Growth
Persists Amid A Swirl Of Policy Shifts," Sept. 23, 2025). Below-average income levels and the
city's large debt burden and pension liability remain constraining credit factors.

Cincinnati is in the southwest portion of Ohio and covers 77 square miles, serves a population of
about 310,000 that exhibited a 4.5% increase in 10 years, and is part of the Ohio-Kentucky-
Indiana metropolitan statistical area (MSA). The city is home to several Fortune 500 companies
and has a large, robust, and diverse employment base. It has a diversified employment sector
that includes health care, higher education, financial services, and government.

With the approved $1.6 billion sale of its railroad, closed in March 2024, Cincinnati will have
additional flexibility to cash-fund projects alleviating its debt burden. Proceeds are held in trust
and interest earnings are transferred to the city. Cincinnati is expected to generate $56 million
annually from interest earnings (assuming a 5.5% rate of return, with 3.5% for funding
infrastructure and 2.0% added to the corpus), which will provide additional flexibility for existing
infrastructure funding. Fluctuations in interest rates will introduce some volatility into this
additional revenue source. However, given strong fiscal oversight, we believe management will
adjust its assumptions and budget as needed to avoid any shortfalls.

For more information on our view of Ohio cities, please see "U.S. Local Governments Credit Brief:
Ohio Counties And Municipalities Means And Medians," Sept. 10, 2025.

The rating also reflects our view of the following:

e Cincinnati remains the anchor for a broad and diverse MSA that's supporting exceptionally
high economic output based on gross county product per capita of 153% (which is among the
highest in the nation). The city and MSA have seen significant new development in recent
years and assessed value (AV) increased 23.3% in 2024. We expect AV will continue rising at a
steady pace, considering new developments are in the pipeline. Regionally, there is more than
$5.8 billion in construction activity, with another $5.3 billion in proposed projects. Cincinnati's
employment base is very diverse and stable, consisting mainly of finance and insurance,

www.spglobal.com/ratingsdirect October 30, 2025


https://www.capitaliq.com/ciqdotnet/CreditResearch/SPResearch.aspx?ArtObjectId=101646549&ArtRevId=2
https://www.capitaliq.com/ciqdotnet/CreditResearch/SPResearch.aspx?ArtObjectId=101646549&ArtRevId=2
https://www.capitaliq.com/ciqdotnet/CreditResearch/SPResearch.aspx?ArtObjectId=101644076&ArtRevId=2
https://www.capitaliq.com/ciqdotnet/CreditResearch/SPResearch.aspx?ArtObjectId=101644076&ArtRevId=2

Cincinnati Series 2025A GO Bonds And 2025A-C Economic Development Revenue Bonds Rated 'AA’"; Outlook Stable

professional and business, manufacturing, and health care and education. Incomes, with
median household effective buying income (EBI) and per capita EBI as a percentage of the
state and nation, are below average and considered a rating limitation.

o We view management as exceptionally strong, providing a foundation for near- and long-term
financial stability. The city recently hired a new finance director following the retirement of its
longstanding director. The new hire expects to maintain its practices of well-founded revenue
and expenditure assumptions, and robust long-term financial and capital planning. Cincinnati
maintains a formal investment policy and management that provides a quarterly report
depicting the holdings and performance of those investments, as well as a comprehensive
policy for issuing and managing city debt. The policy sets various ratio targets including
amortization, debt to property valuation, debt service to total governmental fund revenue, and
cash funding of the capital plan. The city’s stabilization funds policy requires minimum
contingent reserves of two months of general fund revenue (16.7%) on a cash basis.

e The city has significant financial flexibility, with fiscal 2025 available reserves estimated at
$226 million or 38.6% of general fund revenue, and additional support for capital afforded by a
$1.6 billion infusion of railroad proceeds realized in fiscal 2024. Cincinnati’s operations are
funded primarily by income tax, levied at 1.8%, producing 64.7% of general fund revenue,
followed by a combination of property taxes (8.4%), charges for services (7.6%), and other
intergovernmental revenue, taxes, and fees. In fiscal 2025 (ended June 30), the city is
expected to achieve another operating surplus (prior to transfers) of $53.9 million, based on
unaudited results, attributable to strong income and property tax growth and lower
expenditures. We expect reserves will fall modestly, by approximately $11.8 million given
transfers for one-time capital. Property tax millage increased to the maximum 6.1 mills in 2024
and generated an additional $5 million that year, with a further $14.6 million after its triennial
reappraisal. About $280 million in American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds provided significant
financial flexibility (revenue replacement and public safety) and this will continue through the
fiscal 2025 budget. We believe that ARPA funds obscured recent operating results and
contributed to unusually very strong net results that ranged 5%-15% (2019-2022).

e The city's large debt, pension, and other postemployment benefit liabilities remain a credit
weakness and rating limitation, in our opinion. Following collective 2025 issuance, net of self-
support debt, direct debt will total $776 million. Debt service costs are manageable on both a
per-capita and percentage of budget basis but are overshadowed by the city’s large unfunded
pension that we do not believe is sufficiently addressed despite ongoing plans to do so.
Cincinnati is the only city within Ohio that maintains its own single-employer, defined-plan
pension plan (Cincinnati Retirement System), which has historically been underfunded, with
only 50% of the actuarially determined contribution annually funded. Its net pension liability
totaled $913 million in 2024, it is funded at 65.5%. We believe the increasing costs and certain
assumptions, in particular the system’s 7.5% discount rate, are a credit concern because they
could lead to future budget stress. The city also participates in two statewide cost-sharing
plans. For more information on these plans, see: "Pension Spotlight: Ohio," Aug. 26, 2025.

e Forinformation on our institutional framework assessment for Ohio municipalities, see:
"Institutional Framework Assessment: Ohio Local Governments," Sept. 10, 2024.

Environmental, social, and governance

We believe that social and governance factors are credit neutral within our rating analysis. We
also believe that Cincinnati's environmental factors are elevated compared with those of peers,
given the city's location along the Ohio River, which is prone to flooding. That said, most of

www.spglobal.com/ratingsdirect

10

October 30,2025


https://www.capitaliq.com/ciqdotnet/CreditResearch/SPResearch.aspx?ArtObjectId=101638377&ArtRevId=1
https://www.capitaliq.spglobal.com/web/client#ratingsdirect/creditresearch?artObjectId=13242103&artRevId=1&html=true

Cincinnati Series 2025A GO Bonds And 2025A-C Economic Development Revenue Bonds Rated 'AA’"; Outlook Stable 11
Cincinnati sits outside the flood plain, so we believe the risk will be manageable from a budget
standpoint. In our view, governance factors are neutral within our analysis.
The city endured significant flooding along the Ohio river in April 2025. However, Cincinnati did
not face outsized financial effects from the food.
Outlook
The stable outlook reflects our view that, given Cincinnati's proactive fiscal management and
demonstrated ability to plan and adjust its budget during economic downturns, the city will
maintain a very strong financial position.
Downside scenario
We could lower the rating if reserves decrease to a level that we believe is no longer
commensurate with that of similarly rated peers. We could also lower the rating if the city's
pension funding discipline leads to material weakening in its funding status.
Upside scenario
In the longer term, if Cincinnati improves its pension funding discipline and liability, with all other
rating factors remaining constant, we could raise the rating.
Cincinnati, Ohio--credit summary
Institutional framework (IF) 2
Individual credit profile (ICP) 215
Economy 2.0
Financial performance 2
Reserves and liquidity 1
Management 1.00
Debt and liabilities 4.75
Cincinnati, Ohio--key credit metrics

Most recent 2024 2023 2022
Economy
Real GCP per capita % of U.S. 153 - 153 154
County PCPI % of U.S. 108 - 108 108
Market value ($000s) 23,522,603 19,078,337 19,379,317 19,005,897
Market value per capita ($) 75,855 61,523 62,519 61,489
Top 10 taxpayers % of taxable value 1.8 13.5 14.0 131
County unemployment rate (%) 4.1 41 3.4 3.6
Local median household EBI % of U.S. 70 70 72 70
Local per capita EBI % of U.S. 91 91 96 93
Local population 310,101 310,101 309,976 309,092
Financial performance
Operating fund revenues ($000s) - 548,854 484,901 453,901
Operating fund expenditures ($000s) -- 463,776 383,221 364,376

www.spglobal.com/ratingsdirect

October 30, 2025

4



Cincinnati Series 2025A GO Bonds And 2025A-C Economic Development Revenue Bonds Rated 'AA’"; Outlook Stable 12
Cincinnati, Ohio--key credit metrics

Most recent 2024 2023 2022
Net transfers and other adjustments ($000s) -- (29,484) (137,989) (23,01)
Operating result ($000s) -- 55,594 (36,309) 66,514
Operating result % of revenues -- 10.1 (7.5 4.7
Operating result three-year average % - 5.8 6.0 10.2
Reserves and liquidity
Available reserves % of operating revenues - 43.4 37.6 48.2
Available reserves ($000s) -- 237,946 182,409 218,898
Debt and liabilities
Debt service cost % of revenues - 8.3 1.6 9.4
Net direct debt per capita ($) 2,502 2,0mM 2,132 2,365
Net direct debt ($000s) 711,800 623,524 660,928 731,052
Direct debt 10-year amortization (%) 72 72 -- --
Pension and OPEB cost % of revenues - 8.0 9.0 8.0
NPLs per capita ($) - 5,134 6,425 5,446
Combined NPLs ($000s) - 1,692.174 1,991,519 1,683,447

Financial data may reflect analytical adjustments and are sourced from issuer audit reports or other annual disclosures. Economic data is generally sourced from S&P
Global Market Intelligence, the Bureau of Labor Statistics, Claritas, and issuer audits and other disclosures. Local population is sourced from Claritas. Claritas
estimates are point in time and not meant to show year-over-year trends. GCP--Gross county product. PCPI--Per capita personal income. EBI--Effective buying

income. OPEB--Other postemployment benefits. NPLs--Net pension liabilities.

Ratings List

New Issue Ratings

US$24.25 mil econ dev rev bnds ser 2025B due 11/01/2045

Long Term Rating AA/Stable
US$3.17 mil econ dev rev bnds ser 2025A due 11/01/2045

Long Term Rating AA/Stable
US$37.925 mil unltd tax various purp GO imp bnds ser 2025A due 12/01/2045

Long Term Rating AA/Stable
US$40.000 mil econ dev rev bnds ser 2025C due 11/01/2045

Long Term Rating AA/Stable
Ratings Affirmed

Local Government

Cincinnati, OH Non-Tax Revenues AA/Stable
Cincinnati, OH Unlimited Tax General Obligation AA/Stable
Cincinnati, OH Unlimited Tax General Obligation and Income Tax AA/Stable

The ratings appearing below the new issues represent an aggregation of debt issues (ASID) associated with related maturities. The maturities similarly reflect our
opinion about the creditworthiness of the U.S. Public Finance obligor's legal pledge for payment of the financial obligation. Nevertheless, these maturities may have

www.spglobal.com/ratingsdirect

October 30, 2025

5



Cincinnati Series 2025A GO Bonds And 2025A-C Economic Development Revenue Bonds Rated 'AA'; Outlook Stable 13

different credit ratings than the rating presented next to the ASID depending on whether or not additional legal pledge(s) support the specific maturity's payment
obligation, such as credit enhancement, as a result of defeasance, or other factors.

Certain terms used in this report, particularly certain adjectives used to express our view on rating relevant factors, have specific meanings ascribed to them in
our criteria, and should therefore be read in conjunction with such criteria. Please see Ratings Criteria at
https://disclosure.spglobal.com/ratings/en/regulatory/ratings-criteria for further information. A description of each of S&P Global Ratings' rating categories is
contained in "S&P Global Ratings Definitions" at https://disclosure.spglobal.com/ratings/en/regulatory/article/-/view/sourceld/504352. Complete ratings

information is available to RatingsDirect subscribers at www.capitalig.com. All ratings referenced herein can be found on S&P Global Ratings' public website at
www.spglobal.com/ratings.

www.spglobal.com/ratingsdirect October 30,2025 6



Cincinnati Series 2025A GO Bonds And 2025A-C Economic Development Revenue Bonds Rated 'AA’"; Outlook Stable 14

Copyright © 2025 by Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC. All rights reserved.

No content (including ratings, credit-related analyses and data, valuations, model, software or other application or output therefrom) or any part thereof
(Content) may be modified, reverse engineered, reproduced or distributed in any form by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system, without the
prior written permission of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC or its affiliates (collectively, S&P). The Content shall not be used for any unlawful or
unauthorized purposes. S&P and any third-party providers, as well as their directors, officers, shareholders, employees or agents (collectively S&P Parties) do
not guarantee the accuracy, completeness, timeliness or availability of the Content. S&P Parties are not responsible for any errors or omissions (negligent or
otherwise), regardless of the cause, for the results obtained from the use of the Content, or for the security or maintenance of any data input by the user. The
Content is provided on an “as is” basis. S&P PARTIES DISCLAIM ANY AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE, FREEDOM FROM BUGS, SOFTWARE ERRORS OR DEFECTS, THAT
THE CONTENT’S FUNCTIONING WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR THAT THE CONTENT WILL OPERATE WITH ANY SOFTWARE OR HARDWARE CONFIGURATION. In
no event shall S&P Parties be liable to any party for any direct, indirect, incidental, exemplary, compensatory, punitive, special or consequential damages,
costs, expenses, legal fees, or losses (including, without limitation, lost income or lost profits and opportunity costs or losses caused by negligence) in
connection with any use of the Content even if advised of the possibility of such damages.

Some of the Content may have been created with the assistance of an artificial intelligence (Al) tool. Published Content created or processed using Al is
composed, reviewed, edited, and approved by S&P personnel.

Credit-related and other analyses, including ratings, and statements in the Content are statements of opinion as of the date they are expressed and not
statements of fact. S&P’s opinions, analyses and rating acknowledgment decisions (described below) are not recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell any
securities or to make any investment decisions, and do not address the suitability of any security. S&P assumes no obligation to update the Content following
publication in any form or format. The Content should not be relied on and is not a substitute for the skill, judgment and experience of the user, its
management, employees, advisors and/or clients when making investment and other business decisions. S&P does not act as a fiduciary or an investment
advisor except where registered as such. While S&P has obtained information from sources it believes to be reliable, S&P does not perform an audit and
undertakes no duty of due diligence or independent verification of any information it receives. Rating-related publications may be published for a variety of
reasons that are not necessarily dependent on action by rating committees, including, but not limited to, the publication of a periodic update on a credit
rating and related analyses.

To the extent that regulatory authorities allow a rating agency to acknowledge in one jurisdiction a rating issued in another jurisdiction for certain regulatory
purposes, S&P reserves the right to assign, withdraw or suspend such acknowledgment at any time and in its sole discretion. S&P Parties disclaim any duty
whatsoever arising out of the assignment, withdrawal or suspension of an acknowledgment as well as any liability for any damage alleged to have been
suffered on account thereof.

S&P keeps certain activities of its business units separate from each other in order to preserve the independence and objectivity of their respective activities.
As a result, certain business units of S&P may have information that is not available to other S&P business units. S&P has established policies and procedures
to maintain the confidentiality of certain non-public information received in connection with each analytical process.

S&P may receive compensation for its ratings and certain analyses, normally from issuers or underwriters of securities or from obligors. S&P reserves the right
to disseminate its opinions and analyses. S&P's public ratings and analyses are made available on its Web sites, www.spglobal.com/ratings (free of charge),
and www.ratingsdirect.com (subscription), and may be distributed through other means, including via S&P publications and third-party redistributors.
Additional information about our ratings fees is available at www.spglobal.com/usratingsfees.

STANDARD & POOR’S, S&P and RATINGSDIRECT are registered trademarks of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC.

www.spglobal.com/ratingsdirect October 30, 2025



MOODY’S
RATINGS

Rating Action: Moody's Ratings assighs Aa2 and Aa3 to Cincinnati OH's
GO and NTR bonds

30 Oct 2025

New York, October 30, 2025 -- Moody's Ratings (Moody's) has assigned a Aa2 rating to City of Cincinnati, OH's
Unlimited Tax Various Purpose General Obligation Improvement Bonds, Series 2025A expected to be issued
with an estimated par amount of $38 million and Aa3 to the city's Economic Development Revenue Bonds,
Series 2025A (OTR Health Center Project), Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2025B (Findlay
Community Center Project), and Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2025C (Convention Center
Hotel Project) (Federally Taxable) with expected par amounts of $3.2 million, $24.3 million and $40 million,
respectively. We maintain the city's outstanding Aa2 and Aa3 ratings. The outlook is stable.

RATINGS RATIONALE

The Aa2 issuer rating incorporates the city's substantial local economy that serves as the regional economic
center of southwest Ohio and strong financial operations that are expected to remain stable in fiscal 2026.
Recent financial performance has been supported by increasing income tax receipts, the city's primary revenue
source, and management's track record of outperforming budgeted figures.

For fiscal 2025 (year-end June 30), revenue performed well at nearly 10% above prior year figures, resulting in a
general fund surplus after transfers of $42 million. Net income tax receipts have grown by 8% since 2022,
inclusive of a 2% increase in 2025. The city has a solid available fund balance ratio of about 33%, though this
figure is lower than similarly rated entities. The city also benefits from a $1.8 billion of cash in trust (roughly
140% of revenue), which makes an annual contribution toward the maintenance of the city's capital stock. The
city's primary credit challenge is high long-term liabilities ratio at over 300% at the close of fiscal 2024.

The Aa2 GOULT rating is at the same level as the issuer rating because the bonds benefit from the city's pledge
of its full faith and credit and the authorization to levy a property tax unlimited as to rate or amount to pay debt
service.

The non-tax revenue debt is rated Aa3, one notch below the issuer rating because of the relatively limited
revenue pledge that primarily includes fines, forfeitures and penalties, and licenses and permit fees.

RATING OUTLOOK

The outlook on the city is stable because the city will continue to benefit from a growing local economy and
increasing pension contributions and because we expect cash and fund balance to remain near current levels
supported by the city's broad revenue base.

FACTORS THAT COULD LEAD TO AN UPGRADE OF THE RATINGS

- Reduction of long-term liabilities ratio closer to 200%

- Economic growth that boosts the resident income ratio closer to 80% or full value per capita closer to $100,000
FACTORS THAT COULD LEAD TO A DOWNGRADE OF THE RATINGS

- Growth in long-term liabilities ratio above 450%

- Weakening of available fund balance ratio to below 25%



PROFILE

Cincinnati is the economic engine of southwest Ohio. The city is the county seat of Hamilton County (Aa2 stable)
and serves over 300,000 residents. The city provides a broad array of services including public safety, parks and
recreation, transportation, community development and various utilities.

METHODOLOGY

The principal methodology used in these ratings was US Cities and Counties published in July 2024 and

available at https://ratings.moodys.com/rmc-documents/425429. Alternatively, please see the Rating
Methodologies page on https://ratings.moodys.com for a copy of this methodology.

REGULATORY DISCLOSURES

For further specification of Moody's key rating assumptions and sensitivity analysis, see the sections
Methodology Assumptions and Sensitivity to Assumptions in the disclosure form. Moody's Rating Symbols and

Definitions can be found on https://ratings.moodys.com/rating-definitions.

For any affected securities or rated entities receiving direct credit support/credit substitution from another entity

or entities subject to a credit rating action (the supporting entity), and whose ratings may change as a result of a
credit rating action as to the supporting entity, the associated regulatory disclosures will relate to the supporting

entity. Exceptions to this approach may be applicable in certain jurisdictions.

For ratings issued on a program, series, category/class of debt or security, certain regulatory disclosures
applicable to each rating of a subsequently issued bond or note of the same series, category/class of debt, or
security, or pursuant to a program for which the ratings are derived exclusively from existing ratings, in
accordance with Moody's rating practices, can be found in the most recent Credit Rating Announcement related
to the same class of Credit Rating.

For provisional ratings, the Credit Rating Announcement provides certain regulatory disclosures in relation to the
provisional rating assigned, and in relation to a definitive rating that may be assigned subsequent to the final
issuance of the debt, in each case where the transaction structure and terms have not changed prior to the
assignment of the definitive rating in a manner that would have affected the rating.

Moody's does not always publish a separate Credit Rating Announcement for each Credit Rating assigned in the
Anticipated Ratings Process or Subsequent Ratings Process.

Regulatory disclosures contained in this press release apply to the credit rating and, if applicable, the related
rating outlook or rating review.

Please see https://ratings.moodys.com for any updates on changes to the lead rating analyst and to the Moody's
legal entity that has issued the rating.

Please see the issuer/deal page on https://ratings.moodys.com for additional regulatory disclosures for each
credit rating.

Coley Anderson
Lead Analyst

Gera McGuire
Additional Contact

Releasing Office:

Moody's Investors Service, Inc.
250 Greenwich Street

New York, NY 10007

U.S.A

JOURNALISTS: 1 212 553 0376
Client Service: 1 212 553 1653


https://ratings.moodys.com/rmc-documents/425429
https://ratings.moodys.com/
https://ratings.moodys.com/rating-definitions
https://ratings.moodys.com/
https://ratings.moodys.com/

© 2025 Moody's Corporation, Moody's Investors Service, Inc., Moody's Analytics, Inc. and/or their licensors and
affiliates (collectively, "MOODY'S"). All rights reserved.

CREDIT RATINGS ISSUED BY MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS AFFILIATES ARE THEIR CURRENT
OPINIONS OF THE RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK OF ENTITIES, CREDIT COMMITMENTS, OR DEBT
OR DEBT-LIKE SECURITIES, AND MATERIALS, PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND INFORMATION
PUBLISHED OR OTHERWISE MADE AVAILABLE BY MOODY'S (COLLECTIVELY, "MATERIALS") MAY
INCLUDE SUCH CURRENT OPINIONS. MOODY'S DEFINES CREDIT RISK AS THE RISK THAT AN ENTITY
MAY NOT MEET ITS CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AS THEY COME DUE AND ANY
ESTIMATED FINANCIAL LOSS IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT OR IMPAIRMENT. SEE APPLICABLE
MOODY'S RATING SYMBOLS AND DEFINITIONS PUBLICATION FOR INFORMATION ON THE TYPES OF
CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS ADDRESSED BY MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS. CREDIT
RATINGS DO NOT ADDRESS ANY OTHER RISK, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: LIQUIDITY RISK,
MARKET VALUE RISK, OR PRICE VOLATILITY. CREDIT RATINGS, NON-CREDIT ASSESSMENTS
("ASSESSMENTS"), AND OTHER OPINIONS INCLUDED IN MOODY'S MATERIALS ARE NOT
STATEMENTS OF CURRENT OR HISTORICAL FACT. MOODY'S MATERIALS MAY ALSO INCLUDE
QUANTITATIVE MODEL-BASED ESTIMATES OF CREDIT RISK AND RELATED OPINIONS OR
COMMENTARY PUBLISHED BY MOODY'S ANALYTICS, INC. AND/OR ITS AFFILIATES. MOODY'S
CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND MATERIALS DO NOT CONSTITUTE OR
PROVIDE INVESTMENT OR FINANCIAL ADVICE, AND MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS,
OTHER OPINIONS AND MATERIALS ARE NOT AND DO NOT PROVIDE RECOMMENDATIONS TO
PURCHASE, SELL, OR HOLD PARTICULAR SECURITIES. MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS,
OTHER OPINIONS AND MATERIALS DO NOT COMMENT ON THE SUITABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT
FOR ANY PARTICULAR INVESTOR. MOODY'S ISSUES ITS CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS AND
OTHER OPINIONS AND PUBLISHES OR OTHERWISE MAKES AVAILABLE ITS MATERIALS WITH THE
EXPECTATION AND UNDERSTANDING THAT EACH INVESTOR WILL, WITH DUE CARE, MAKE ITS OWN
STUDY AND EVALUATION OF EACH SECURITY THAT IS UNDER CONSIDERATION FOR PURCHASE,
HOLDING, OR SALE.

MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS, AND MATERIALS ARE NOT INTENDED
FOR USE BY RETAIL INVESTORS AND IT WOULD BE RECKLESS AND INAPPROPRIATE FOR RETAIL
INVESTORS TO USE MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS OR MATERIALS
WHEN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION. IF IN DOUBT YOU SHOULD CONTACT YOUR FINANCIAL OR
OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISER.

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS PROTECTED BY LAW, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO,
COPYRIGHT LAW, AND NONE OF SUCH INFORMATION MAY BE COPIED OR OTHERWISE
REPRODUCED, REPACKAGED, FURTHER TRANSMITTED, TRANSFERRED, DISSEMINATED,
REDISTRIBUTED OR RESOLD, OR STORED FOR SUBSEQUENT USE FOR ANY SUCH PURPOSE, IN
WHOLE OR IN PART, IN ANY FORM OR MANNER OR BY ANY MEANS WHATSOEVER, BY ANY PERSON
WITHOUT MOODY'S PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT. FOR CLARITY, NO INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN
MAY BE USED TO DEVELOP, IMPROVE, TRAIN OR RETRAIN ANY SOFTWARE PROGRAM OR
DATABASE, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, FOR ANY ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE, MACHINE
LEARNING OR NATURAL LANGUAGE PROCESSING SOFTWARE, ALGORITHM, METHODOLOGY AND/OR
MODEL.

MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND MATERIALS ARE NOT INTENDED
FOR USE BY ANY PERSON AS A BENCHMARK AS THAT TERM IS DEFINED FOR REGULATORY
PURPOSES AND MUST NOT BE USED IN ANY WAY THAT COULD RESULT IN THEM BEING
CONSIDERED A BENCHMARK.

All information contained herein is obtained by MOODY'S from sources believed by it to be accurate and
reliable. Because of the possibility of human or mechanical error as well as other factors, however, all
information contained herein is provided "AS 1S" without warranty of any kind. MOODY'S adopts all necessary
measures so that the information it uses in assigning a credit rating is of sufficient quality and from sources
MOODY'S considers to be reliable including, when appropriate, independent third-party sources. However,
MOODY'S is not an auditor and cannot in every instance independently verify or validate information received in



the credit rating process or in preparing its Materials.

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY'S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives,
licensors and suppliers disclaim liability to any person or entity for any indirect, special, consequential, or
incidental losses or damages whatsoever arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or
the use of or inability to use any such information, even if MOODY'S or any of its directors, officers, employees,
agents, representatives, licensors or suppliers is advised in advance of the possibility of such losses or
damages, including but not limited to: (a) any loss of present or prospective profits or (b) any loss or damage
arising where the relevant financial instrument is not the subject of a particular credit rating assigned by
MOODY'S.

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY'S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives,
licensors and suppliers disclaim liability for any direct or compensatory losses or damages caused to any person
or entity, including but not limited to by any negligence (but excluding fraud, willful misconduct or any other type
of liability that, for the avoidance of doubt, by law cannot be excluded) on the part of, or any contingency within
or beyond the control of, MOODY'S or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives,
licensors or suppliers, arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability
to use any such information.

NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS,
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY CREDIT RATING,
ASSESSMENT, OTHER OPINION OR INFORMATION IS GIVEN OR MADE BY MOODY'S IN ANY FORM OR
MANNER WHATSOEVER.

Moody's Investors Service, Inc., a wholly-owned credit rating agency subsidiary of Moody's Corporation
("MCQO"), hereby discloses that most issuers of debt securities (including corporate and municipal bonds,
debentures, notes and commercial paper) and preferred stock rated by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. have,
prior to assignment of any credit rating, agreed to pay Moody's Investors Service, Inc. for credit ratings opinions
and services rendered by it. MCO and all MCO entities that issue ratings under the "Moody's Ratings" brand
name ("Moody's Ratings"), also maintain policies and procedures to address the independence of Moody's
Ratings' credit ratings and credit rating processes. Information regarding certain affiliations that may exist
between directors of MCO and rated entities, and between entities who hold credit ratings from Moody's
Investors Service, Inc. and have also publicly reported to the SEC an ownership interest in MCO of more than
5%, is posted annually at ir.moodys.com under the heading "Investor Relations — Corporate Governance —
Charter and Governance Documents - Director and Shareholder Affiliation Policy."

Moody's SF Japan K.K., Moody's Local AR Agente de Calificacion de Riesgo S.A., Moody's Local BR Agéncia
de Classificagdo de Risco LTDA, Moody's Local MX S.A. de C.V, I.C.V., Moody's Local PE Clasificadora de
Riesgo S.A., and Moody's Local PA Calificadora de Riesgo S.A. (collectively, the "Moody's Non-NRSRO CRAs")
are all indirectly wholly-owned credit rating agency subsidiaries of MCO. None of the Moody's Non-NRSRO
CRAs is a Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization.

Additional terms for Australia only: Any publication into Australia of this document is pursuant to the Australian
Financial Services License of MOODY'S affiliate, Moody's Investors Service Pty Limited ABN 61 003 399
657AFSL 336969 and/or Moody's Analytics Australia Pty Ltd ABN 94 105 136 972 AFSL 383569 (as applicable).
This document is intended to be provided only to "wholesale clients" within the meaning of section 761G of the
Corporations Act 2001. By continuing to access this document from within Australia, you represent to MOODY'S
that you are, or are accessing the document as a representative of, a "wholesale client" and that neither you nor
the entity you represent will directly or indirectly disseminate this document or its contents to "retail clients" within
the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. MOODY'S credit rating is an opinion as to the
creditworthiness of a debt obligation of the issuer, not on the equity securities of the issuer or any form of
security that is available to retail investors.

Additional terms for India only: Moody's credit ratings, Assessments, other opinions and Materials are not
intended to be and shall not be relied upon or used by any users located in India in relation to securities listed or
proposed to be listed on Indian stock exchanges.

Additional terms with respect to Second Party Opinions and Net Zero Assessments (as defined in Moody's
Ratings Rating Symbols and Definitions): Please note that neither a Second Party Opinion ("SPQO") nor a Net



Zero Assessment ("NZA") is a "credit rating". The issuance of SPOs and NZAs is not a regulated activity in many
jurisdictions, including Singapore. JAPAN: In Japan, development and provision of SPOs and NZAs fall under
the category of "Ancillary Businesses", not "Credit Rating Business", and are not subject to the regulations
applicable to "Credit Rating Business" under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan and its
relevant regulation. PRC: Any SPO: (1) does not constitute a PRC Green Bond Assessment as defined under
any relevant PRC laws or regulations; (2) cannot be included in any registration statement, offering circular,
prospectus or any other documents submitted to the PRC regulatory authorities or otherwise used to satisfy any
PRC regulatory disclosure requirement; and (3) cannot be used within the PRC for any regulatory purpose or for
any other purpose which is not permitted under relevant PRC laws or regulations. For the purposes of this
disclaimer, "PRC" refers to the mainland of the People's Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan.



20

Funston Performance Audit - Summary of Recommendations Assighment
Board Board,Adm. Priority Board Goverance ic Staff . Audit
evaluation
1. Legal and Regulatory Status
1.1 Improve definition and clarity of roles and authorities of:
e  The Board of trustees Completed X X
e  Board chair Completed X X
e Individual trustees Completed X X
e City Council and Mayor Completed X
e  City Manager and City Finance Director Completed X
e  CRS Director Completed X
12 The City should expand Board of Trustees personnel authorities to align with the Board’s responsibilities, for example, naming the CRS e X
; Director as a direct report to the Board, with authority to hire/fire, eval and set p ion. P
The City Solicitor should provide the Board of Trustees with independent external legal counsel or establish a policy and process that
1.3 allows CRS to retain independent external counsel and/or hire internal CRS counsel to address potential conflicts of interest associated Reveiwed X X
with the City Solicitor’s representation of other clients on the same matters.
14 Confirm the Board’s authority, as the named fiduciary, to contract with actuaries, i ts, i managers, e X X
: custodial banks, benefit providers, and legal counsel, all of which require unique pension and investment expertise. P
15 The City Manager should allow CRS trustees who are not City employees to vote on CRS procurement decisions; the Board, as Completed X X
: fiduciaries, should have final authority on those decisions. P
If the CRS Board is not given authority to hire/fire/evaluate/compensate the Director, work with the City Manager to develop a
Memorandum of Understanding that addresses the City Manager’s role as a potential fiduciary and formalizes procedures where the
1.6 Board and City Manager, Finance Director or other officers have overlapping responsibilities (e.g., setting goals for and evaluating the Completed X X
Executive Director); CRS may need to consider options for engagement of independent fiduciary legal counsel to assist with this
initiative.
GREEN - SHORTER TERM COMPLETION
RED - LONGER TERM COMPLETION
Board - CRS Board has authority to complete
Board, Adm. - CRS Board and City Administration have shared authority plet
Priority - CRS Board priority to complete as soon as possible
Note: Some Recommendations may require CSA update.
2. Governance Framework
21 Aggregate and organize the Board policies from all sources into a Board Governance Manual with online access and links to underlying i X X
) document provisions; include the mission statement, goals, trustee responsibilities, committee charters and the Code of Ethics. 2
2.2 Develop new policies or formalize current policies and practices for:
e Trustee personal financial disclosures Completed X
e  Board self-evaluation / Board education policy Completed X
e Funding Initiated X
e Separate investment policy statement for the 115 trust fund that is tailored to its liabilities Completed X
e Strategic planning, in coordination with the City Completed X
e Collection of claims in securities class actions Completed X

Page 1




23
24

25

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

211

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

®  Succession planning, in cooperation with relevant City appointing authorities Completed
e Business continuity and resumption Completed
e Independent governance and benchmarking reviews Completed
e  External communications by Board members Completed

e Due diligence and reporting for referral of service provider candidates by trustees, along with limits on candidate contacts with
trustees during an RFP process

Completed

Reduce the size of each committee to three or five members to better utilize trustee time. Completed
Adopt a consent agenda for approval of routine business and reports. Completed

Conduct periodic board retreats for more in-depth discussion on key topics, conducting board self-evaluations and executive director

. . Completed
evaluations, and trustee education.

Following imp ation of the r dations in this report, conduct a biennial self-evaluation process, potentially with external
assistance; this process should help to inform educational priorities.

Completed

Define ongoing training requirements for Board members, including onboarding plan for new trustees and required fiduciary training;

Completed
link training to board self-assessment findings and the calendar of Board agenda action items. ?

Formalize a CRS stakeholder communications plan that identifies key stakeholders, communications responsibilities, and messages and

Completed
objectives. p!

Issue new system email accounts to be used by trustees for all CRS-related business. Completed

Discuss with the Director and the investment consultant how reporting could be improved and executive summaries better utilized to

Completed
enhance trustee understanding and insight. P

Appoint a Board Audit Committee with oversight of internal and external audits to ission an independ fi ial audit and

obtain internal audit services from the City Internal Audit Department and/or an independent firm; include oversight of enterprise Reviewed
performance and risk in the committee charter responsibilities.

3. Investment Program and Operations

Develop a separate Statement of Investment Beliefs (SIB) to guide d andi ion of the strategic asset allocation. Completed

Develop a liquidity policy as part of the Investment Policy Statement (IPS) to ensure that the cash needs of the organization are

Ci leted
effectively and efficiently met. omplete

Develop a separate IPS for the 115 Trust (Health Care Trust) that reflects the unique liability structure of the 115 Trust. Completed

Extend the time horizon for the strategic asset allocation to 3-5 years and only make changes to the target asset allocation as part of a @eniE
comprehensive Asset Liability Study.

Include a more comprehensive rebalancing policy in the IPS that describes how rebalancing is linked to the Board’s investment Comnleted
philosophy and what the process should be. P
Discuss with Marquette Associates how reporting might be improved through development of an introductory executive summary, @enmaia
with an exception reporting approach, to the quarterly reporting package focused on actual performance compared to the IPS.

4. Pension Operations

Clarify the Board’s responsibilities and role (or lack thereof) in pension and benefi inistration. Completed

Consider if pension staffing resources and capabilities should be improved through Impl 1tation of a ber contact center T
telecommunications system.
Develop a long-term plan with service, performance, and cost objectives, to ensure that member self-service, website redesign, and i

other improvements, are all developed and implemented in a coordinated manner and achieve desired results.
Charter a pension administration cost and performance benchmarking report. Comleted

Consult with its actuary and determine if an adjustment to the investment assumed rate of return should be recommended. Comleted

Develop and adopt a formal actuarial and funding policy describing responsibilities and frequency of actuarial and asset/liability study
processes and addressing investment, demographic and benefit risks.

Completed

Page 2

Board

< X X X X

Board, Adm.

X
X

Priority

Board Goverance

ic

Staff

Performance

evaluation

21

Audit



22

5. Administrative Operations Board Board,Adm. Priority Board Goverance  IC Staff Perfolrm:nce Audit
evaluation

Develop succession planning and implement a cross training program for staff to minimize key person risk and enhance staff

Completed
development. P X

Work with the City Administration and the Law Department to delegate authority to the CRS Board to engage external counsel to

5.2

5.3

5.4

. ) . . . . Completed X
obtain more timely legal support or unique expertise when appropriate. See also Recommendation 1.3.
Develop a long-term IT plan that identifies future needs. Completed X
Work with the City Enterprise Technology Solutions (ETS) Department to ensure security is adequate and tested. Completed X X
Update the documented disaster recovery plan. Completed X X

6. Compliance
Assvlg'n leadership, training, and monitoring resp ilities for c e to ensure c: e with conflict of interest and ethics Completed X X
policies.
Develop a repository of risk-ranked compliance requirements. Completed X
tracking i to identify and escalate non-compliance. Completed X

GREEN - SHORTER TERM COMPLETION
RED - LONGER TERM COMPLETION

Board - CRS Board has authority to complete
Board, Adm. - CRS Board and City Administration have shared authority to complete

Priority - CRS Board priority to complete as soon as possible

Note: Some Recommendations may require CSA update.

Page 3



23

city of

CINCINNATI

RETIREMENT

win

e

LN

e e )\ P Pl ol o) cb K I
. » ; .;1" 7

. -
"y
.




24

CEM Benchmarking Seeks to Meaningfully Improve Lives of Pensioners Globally with $14

Trillion in AUM

Leading to
Actionable Insight

Data & Insights

Benchmarking Cost &
Performance

CEM Benchmarking

Research

Data-Led
Pension Findings

Community

Best Practice Sharing &
Discussion

Years

Countries

Institutional Investors

Of The World’s Top 300 Funds

Manager Mandates

Members And
Pensioners



25




26

Insights are based on the 78 global pension systems that participate in the
benchmarking subscription.

Participating systems by size, 2023/2024
45% American

20
wesssssmw 35 Systems
18 A
N
16
14 .
* 24% Canadian
12
Number 19 systems
of 10
systems
o TS
6 ~ =*  27% British
4 "i ~ 21 systems
2
0

Fewer than 50,000 to 100,000 to 250,000 to 500,000 to More than
50,000 100,000 250,000 500,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
members’ members’ members’ members’ members’ members’

4% Rest of World
3 systems

UK systems complete a different benchmarking survey. Their data is not included in this report.

1. Members is equal to the number of active members and annuitants.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary 4



27

Your peer group consists of the following 9 participants:

Membership
Actives

Peers Members Annuitant Total

Cincinnati RS 3,995 4,282 8,277
City of Austin ERS 11,197 7,802 18,999
TTCPP 16,801 10,713 27,514
Sacramento County ERS 13,690 14,285 27,975
University Pension Plan 22,260 12,967 35,227
EESRS of Fairfax County 22,885 13,790 36,675
Orange County ERS 22,718 21,950 44,668
RCMP 21,501 23,938 45,439
NYC BERS 28,257 21,380 49,637
Peer Median 21,501 13,790 35,227
Peer Average 18,145 14,567 32,712

1. Inactive members are not considered when selecting peers because they are excluded when determining cost per member. They are excluded because
they are less costly to administer than active members or annuitants.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary 5



28

Your total service score was 64 out of 100. This was above the peer median of 62.

Total Service Score

100 -
90 -
80 -

70

60 {------- R R A A A E AR AR R AR R b

50 -
40 4
30 1
20 |
10 |
0

. You

- — - - Peer Median

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc.

Peer

All Avg

All

CEM believes the right measure is member service, or the
service score.

Service is defined from a member’s perspective. Higher service
means more channels, faster turnaround times, more
availability, more choice, better content and higher quality.

Higher service is not necessarily cost-effective. For example, the
ability to answer the telephone 24 hours a day is higher service,
but not cost effective.

Your total service score is the weighted average of the service
scores for each of the four member journeys below.

Peer
Member journey Weight You Median
Active member experience 30% 62 61
Inactive member experience 5% 58 58
Retiring experience 35% 62 62
Annuitant experience 30% 71 71
Weighted total service score 100% 64 62

Executive Summary 6



29

Service score by member journey and activity

Active member experience service score Inactive member experience service score
100 - 100
80 - 80
60 1--------rriiEH I E iR e R At s AR R R A R T A A 60 o IR AR EARR N
40 - 40
20 - 20
0 0
I You Peer All = - - - Peer Median All Median m— You Peer All - - - - Peer Median All Median
Peer Peer
Activity Weight  You  Median Activity Weight You Median
Outbound communication 7.5% 60 44 Outbound communication 10.0% 2 17
Purchases and Transfers-in 10.0% 99 10 - n/a n/a n/a
Member statements 12.5% 45 50 - n/a n/a n/a
- n/a n/a n/a Tracking inactive members 10.0% 100 60
- n/a n/a n/a Transfers-out 5.0% 100 47
Personal information 5.0% 40 55 Personal information 7.5% 40 55
Salary and service credit information 5.0% 75 75 Salary and service credit information 5.0% 75 75
Secure website accessibility 30.0% 60 63 Secure website accessibility 40.0% 60 60
Contact center: accessibility 7.5% 59 59 Contact center: accessibility 7.5% 59 59
Contact center: capability 5.0% 75 85 Contact center: capability 5.0% 75 85
Contact center: call quality 5.0% 73 24 Contact center: call quality 5.0% 73 24
1-on-1 counseling 5.0% 82 80 - n/a n/a n/a
Member presentations 2.5% 100 100 - n/a n/a n/a
Feedback 5.0% 0 30 Feedback 5.0% 0 15
Active member experience service score  100% 62 61 Inactive member experience service score  100% 58 58

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary 7



30

Service score by member journey and activity

Retiring experience service score Annuitant experience service score

100 - 100 -

80 - 80 -

60 41-------—--mnil bt ekl na bt n kAt abdn akdn ahd s k5 ik 60 -

40 - 40 -

20 - 20 -

0 0
m You Peer All = = = = Peer Median All Median m You Peer All = = —= = Peer Median All Median
Peer Peer

Activity Weight You Median Activity Weight  You Median
Outbound communication 7.5% 55 10 Outbound communication 10.0% 85 52
Pension estimates: self-service 7.5% 73 78 - n/a n/a n/a
Pension estimates: assisted service 2.5% 95 50 - n/a n/a n/a
Retirement applications 7.5% 0 40 - n/a n/a n/a
Pension inceptions 10.0% 100 95 - n/a n/a n/a
Disability inceptions 5.0% 33 5 - n/a n/a n/a
- n/a n/a n/a Pension payments 30.0% 98 96
Personal information 2.5% 40 55 Personal information 5.0% 40 40
Salary and service credit information 2.5% 75 75 n/a n/a n/a
Secure website accessibility 20.0% 60 78 Secure website accessibility 32.5% 60 60
Contact center: accessibility 7.5% 59 59 Contact center: accessibility 7.5% 59 59
Contact center: capability 5.0% 75 85 Contact center: capability 5.0% 75 88
Contact center: call quality 5.0% 73 24 Contact center: call quality 5.0% 73 24
1-on-1 counseling 7.5% 82 80 - n/a n/a n/a
Member presentations 5.0% 100 100 - n/a n/a n/a
Feedback 5.0% 0 35 Feedback 5.0% 0 65
Retiring experience service score 100% 62 62 Annuitant experience service score 100% 71 71

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary 8



31

Before adjusting for economies of scale, your total pension administration cost of
$349 per active member and annuitant was $137 below the peer average of $486.

Total Pension Administration Cost!
per active member and annuitant
$1,200 -

$1,000 -
$800 -
$600 -

$400 -

$200 -

S0

mmm YOU mmmm Your MP Peer
Peer MP __ __ Peer Avg

1. Major project costs are denoted by the lighter shading on the bars.
These one-off costs correspond to administration projects only.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc.

S per active
S000s member and
annuitant
Category You You PeerAvg
Business-As-Usual Costs 2,887 349 425
Major Project Costs ' 0 0 61
Total Pension Administration 2,887 349 486

We include costs that are directly related to pension
administration (e.g., staff costs or an third-party costs) plus
attributions of governance, financial control, IT, building and
utilities, HR, support services and other costs.

The costs associated with investment operations and
investment management are specifically excluded.

Executive Summary 9



32

Size matters: you had an economies of scale disadvantage relative to the peer
average. After adjusting the cost of each peer for its scale
advantage/disadvantage, your cost was

$442 below the adjusted peer average of $791.

Your system had 72% less members than the peer weighted
average. Your smaller size means that you had a scale
disadvantage of $305 relative to the peer average.

Pension Administration Cost Per active
member and annuitant - Adjusted for

$2000 - Economies of Scale
51,800 - The scale adjustment is based on regression analysis using
$1.600 - cost and membership data from 370 global pension plans.
Approximately 70% of differences in cost per member can
$1,400 - be explained by differences in size.
$1,200 -
$1,000 - Economies of scale
' 2000 -
$800 | oo o e mmmemececemem ool L
o 1500 -
$600 - 2
g 1000 -
$400 - g
% 500 -
$200 A S
0
20 100 1k 10k 100k M 10M
. You Peer - ---PeerAvg Peer Median

# of members

Each peer's cost was adjusted for its scale
advantage/disadvantage relative to your system.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary 10



Reasons why your total cost was $442 lower than the adjusted peer average:

Reason

A. Using 2% less FTE to serve members

B. Paying less in total per FTE for:
* Salaries & benefits
e Building expenses

C. Paying less per member in total for:
e Professional Fees
e Amortization
e Other administration expenses

Total - unadjusted
Adjustment for your scale disadvantage

Comparison
You Peer average

FTE per 10,000 members

15.7 16.0

Cost per FTE

$130,769 $149,363
$0 $13,942
$130,769 $163,305

Ss per member

$133 $116

S0 $33
$10 $68
$143 $216

Total after adjusting for economy of scale differences

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc.

33

Impact

More/ Less Ss per member

-2%

-12%
-100%
-20%

15%
-100%
-85%
-34%

-$13

-$51

-$73
-$137

-$305
-$442

Executive Summary 11



Your Major Project costs of $O per active member and annuitant was $61 below the
peer average of S61.

Total Major Project Cost

_ ) Major S per active member and
per active member and annuitant Project Cost annuitant

S500 - S000s

$450 - Category You You Peer Avg

Single year 2023/2024 0 0 61

S400 -

S350 A

$300 - What is included in major project costs:

$250 - .

One-off costs that were not capitalized.
$200 - e Current year amortization on capitalized costs.
¢ Excluding attributed costs for healthcare, and optional

$150 - and third-party administered benefits, if applicable.

$100 -
$50 4 ~TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTmTTTossoooomsms-oomE
S0

. You Peer ----PeerAvg Peer Median

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary 12



35

Differences in costs can also be attributed to factors such as cost environment, and
differences in transaction volumes.

16 4 Cost environment Your cost environment was 7% lower than the peer average.

I You b Peer = = — = PeerAvg

Weighted transaction volume Workloads: your weighted transaction volume was 45, which was 22%
below the peer average. This suggests that you do fewer transactions
and/or have a less costly mix of transactions per active member and
annuitant.

120 -
per active member and annuitant
100

80
€0 The next page shows you where you are doing more or less

40 transactions in comparison with your peers.

20

m— You e Peer — — — — PeerAvg

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary 13



Where are you doing more/fewer transactions than your peers?

Where are you doing more/fewer transactions than your peers?
Volume per 1,000 active

members and annuitants

Activity

1. Member Transactions
A. Pension Payments
B. Pension Inceptions & Written
Pension Estimates
C. Withdrawals
D. Purchases
E. Disability

2. Member Communication
A. Member Calls
B. Mail Room
C. 1-on-1 Counseling
D. Presentations
E. Mass Communication

3. Collections and Data Maintenance
A. Employer data
B. Non-employer data

Weighted Total?

Activity volume
description

annuitants

service & survivor inceptions
withdrawals

purchases

disability applications

calls & emails
incoming letters
counseling sessions
presentations
active members

active members
annuitants, inactive members

1. CEM has used a default where your response was "unknown".

2. The weights used for each transaction type are equal to the 2024 fiscal year global PABS participant median. See section 5 for more details.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc.

Your
Volume

4,282

141
153
9
3

6,800
3,683'
197
40
3,995

3,995
4,591

You

517.3

17.0
18.5
11
0.4

821.6
444.9
23.8
4.8
482.7

482.7
554.7

45.4

Peer Avg

446.8

213
14.2
26.7

0.9

889.3
476.6
55.6
1.5
553.2

553.2
569.5

58.0

36

More/-
less

16%

-20%

31%
-96%
-58%

-8%
-7%
-57%
218%
-13%

-13%
-3%

-22%

Executive Summary 14



37

Key takeaways:

Service

Cost

Your total service score was 64 out of 100. This was above the peer median of 62.

Your strengths are in:
- purchases and transfers-in, contact center - quality, transfers-out, pension estimates: assisted service,
outbound communication

Your opportunities are in:
- Personal information, contact center capability, secure website accessibility, feedback (member surveying)

Before adjusting for economies of scale, your total pension administration cost of $349 per active member and
annuitant was $137 below the peer average of $486.

After adjusting the cost of each peer for its scale advantage/disadvantage, your cost was $442 below the
adjusted peer average of $791.

The main reasons why you were lower costs were:
- You had lower other administration costs.
- You had lower cost per member for amortization.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary 15



38




39

This benchmarking report compares your cost and performance to the 270 funds in

CEM's extensive pension database.

® 136 U.S. pension funds participate. The median U.S.
fund had assets of $8.3 billion and the average U.S. fund
had assets of $30.4 billion. Total participating U.S. assets
were $4.1 trillion.

e 61 Canadian funds participate with assets totaling $2.4
trillion.

® 62 European funds participate with aggregate assets of
$5.2 trillion. Included are funds from the Netherlands,
Norway, Sweden, Finland, Ireland, Denmark and the UK.

¢ 8 Asia-Pacific funds participate with aggregate assets
of $1.6 trillion. Included are funds from New Zealand,
South Korea, and Australia.

¢ 3 funds from other regions participate.

The most meaningful comparisons for your returns and
value added are to the U.S. Public universe, which
consists of 39 funds. The U.S. Public universe assets
totaled $3.0 trillion and the median fund had assets of
$45.2 billion.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc.

14

12

10

IS

N

o

Participating assets ($ trillions)

Asia-Pacific
Europe
Canada

m United States

9294969800020406081012141618 202224

Executive Summary | 17



40

The most valuable comparisons for cost performance are to your custom peer group
because size impacts costs.

Peer group for City of Cincinnati Retirement System

e 12 U.S. sponsors from $0.7 billion to $7.4 billion
e Median size of $3.4 billion versus your $2.3 billion

4_
3
E BB

0 -

Average $ billions

N
1

To preserve client confidentiality, given potential access to documents as permitted by the Freedom of Information Act, we do not disclose your peers' names in
this document. For some of the peers, 2023 cost data was used as a proxy for 2024.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary | 18



Your 2024 net total return of 9.7% was above both the U.S. Public median of 8.9%
and the peer median of 9.6%.

Total returns, by themselves, provide little insight into U.S. Public net total returns - quartile rankings
the reasons behind relative performance. Therefore, 12%
we separate total return into its more meaningful
components: policy return and value added.
10% l

Your 2024
Net total fund return 9.7%
- Policy return 9.8% 8%
= Net value added -0.1% |

This approach enables you to understand the 6%

contribution from both policy mix decisions (which
tend to be the board's responsibility) and

. . . . . Legend 4%
implementation decisions (which tend to be oot
management's responsibility). 75th
median
' 2%
25th
10th
@ your value
= peer med 0%

2024

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary | 19



Your 2024 policy return of 9.8% was above the U.S. Public median of 9.4% and equal

to the peer median of 9.8%.

Your policy return is the return you could have earned
passively by indexing your investments according to your

policy mix.

Having a higher or lower relative policy return is not
necessarily good or bad. Your policy return reflects your

investment policy, which should reflect your:

e Long term capital market expectations
e Liabilities
e Appetite for risk

Each of these three factors is different across
funds. Therefore, it is not surprising that policy
returns often vary widely between funds.

To enable fairer comparisons, the policy returns of all participants, including your
fund, were adjusted to reflect private equity benchmarks based on lagged,
investable, public-market indices. Prior to this adjustment, your 2024 policy
return was 9.2%, 0.6% lower than your adjusted 2024 policy return of 9.8%.
Mirroring this, your 2024 total fund net value added would be 0.6% higher.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc.

Legend
90th
75th
median
25th
10th

@ Your value
— peer med

U.S. Public policy returns - quartile rankings

14%

12%

10% -

8%

6%

4%

2%

0%
2024

Executive Summary | 20



Your 2024 policy return of 9.8% was above the U.S. Public median of 9.4% primarily

because of:

e The positive impact of a lower allocation to
real estate, one of the lowest returning asset
classes in 2024.

e The positive impact of a lower allocation to
and a higher benchmark return in total fixed
income than the U.S. Public average.

1. Other stock includes: Stock - Emerging. Other fixed income
includes: Fixed income - U.S. gov't and fixed income - long bonds.
Other real assets include: Commodities and Natural resources.

2. Avalue of 'n/a' is shown if asset class returns are not available for
2024 or if they are broad and incomparable.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc.

2024 Policy mix

Stock - U.S.

Stock - EAFE

Stock - ACWI x U.S.
Stock - Global
Other Stock’

Total Stock

Fixed Income - U.S.

Fixed Inc. - Inflation indexed
Fixed income - High yield
Other Fixed Income'

Total Fixed Income

Hedge funds
Infrastructure

Real estate incl. REITs
Other Real Assets'
Private equity

Private debt

Total

2024 bench-
mark return
Your u.s.publ More/ Your U.S. Publ
Fund Avg. Less Fund Avg.
29% 18% 10% 21.9% 22.4%
0% 1%  -4% n/a? 5.8%
16% 6% 10% 5.6% 6.4%
0% 11% -12% n/a? 16.0%
0% 4%  -4% n/a? n/a?
45% 44% 1% 16.0% = 16.3%
21% 16% 5% 1.3% 1.1%
0% 3% -3% n/a? 1.9%
2% 2% 0% 8.2% 7.5%
0% 4%  -4% n/a?  n/a?
23% 24% -2% 1.9% 1.2%
3% 2% 0% 17.8% 7.7%
10% 2% 8% 7.0% 9.8%
6% 10% -4% -2.3% -2.8%
0% 2%  -2% n/a? n/a?
8% 12% -4% 13.4% 13.4%
7% 4% 2% 9.1% 9.0%
100% 100%

Executive Summary | 21



44

Net value added is the component of total return from active management. Your
2024 net value added was -0.1%.

Net value added equals total net return minus policy U.S. Public net value added - quartile rankings
return. 4.0%
Value added for City of Cincinnati 3.0%
Retirement System
Net Policy Net value 2.0%
Year return return added
2024 9.7% 9.8% -0.1%
1.0%
0.0% l
Your 2024 net value added of -0.1% compares to a —
median of -0.5% for your peers and -0.5% for the -1.0%
U.S. Public universe. )
egend
90th _2.0%
75th
median
25th -3.0%
To enable fairer comparisons, the value added for each participant including your fund 10th
was adjusted to reflect private equity benchmarks based on lagged, investable public @ Your value
market indices. Prior to this adjustment, your fund’s 2024 total fund net value added _ peer med -4.0%

was 0.5%. 2024

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary | 22



45

Comparisons of your 2024 net return and net value added by major asset class:

2024 average net return by major asset class

25%

20%
15%
10%

5%

0% N -

m. B

]
-5%
Stock - U.S. StOCkL; ':CWI X Fixed income' Infrastructure Real s;ﬁ:e ex Private equity? Private credit
m Your fund 21.8% 5.6% -1.2% 7.8% 12.2%
U.S. Public average 22.3% 6.3% -3.1% 6.9% 11.0%
m Peer average 22.3% 5.6% -1.7% 8.2% 10.7%
Your % of assets 28.8% 15.7% 6.8% 11.5% 2.6%
2024 average net value added by major asset class
10%
5%
0% _ - m
-5%
-10%
0 Stock - ACWI x N 1 Real estate ex- . oy . .
Stock - U.S. US Fixed income Infrastructure REITs Private equity Private credit
m Your fund -0.1% 0.0% 1.1% -5.6% 3.1%
U.S. Public average -0.1% -0.3% 0.0% -6.4% 1.8%
m Peer average -1.0% -0.2% -2.2% -5.2% 2.9%

1. Excludes cash and leverage.

2. To enable fairer comparisons, the private equity benchmarks of all participants, including your fund were adjusted to reflect lagged, investable, public-market indices. Prior

to this adjustment, your fund’s 2024 private equity net value added was 2.0%.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc.

Executive Summary | 23



46

Benchmark cost analysis suggests that, after adjusting for fund size and asset mikx,
your fund was above benchmark cost by 10.1 basis points in 2024.

Reasons why your cost was 10.1 bps above the benchmark

More passive, less active

More evergreen, less LP & FoF

Less LP, more FoF

Less overlays

Paid less for oversight, custody, other

Paid more for external management®

Paid more private asset & HF perf. fees”

Total

-5.0 -2.5 0.0 2.5 5.0 7.5 10,0 12.5
bps bps bps bps bps bps bps bps

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary | 24



47

Your fund achieved a 2024 net value added of -13 bps and excess cost of 10 bps on
the cost-effectiveness chart.

2024 Cost effectiveness

(using your 1-yr excess cost as a proxy for 1-yr)*

5.1%
Positive NVA Positive NVA
Low cost High cost
>
S @
v i ®
= @
= 0.0% @ ) )
= o o oe® g 0., o
= o, NN ®
- > (L P
™ o
S T
..
]
Negative N’u‘! ® Negative NVA
Low cost High cost
_5.1% g
~0.4% 0.0% 0.4%"

-Below/above benchmark cost

® You @ Peer @ .5, Publ univ.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary | 25



48

Summary of key takeaways

Returns
e Your 2024 net total return was 9.7%. This was above both the U.S. Public median of 8.9% and the peer median of 9.6%.
e Your 2024 policy return was 9.8%. This was above the U.S. Public median of 9.4% and equal to the peer median of 9.8%.

Value added
e Your 2024 net value added was -0.1%. This was above both the U.S. Public median of -0.5% and the peer median of -0.5%.

Cost and cost effectiveness
e Your investment cost of 85.4 bps was above your benchmark cost of 75.3 bps. This suggests that your fund was high cost
compared to your peers.
e Your fund was above benchmark cost because it paid more than peers for some services.

© 2025 CEM Benchmarking Inc. Executive Summary | 26



49

CRS CASH FLOW BUDGET
2026 % Cost of 2025 % Cost of
L. OPERATING EXPENSES BUDGET Operations BUDGET Operations
A Office Staff
1. Salaries & Wages 1,730,400 45.77% 1,814,400 45.94%
2. Fringe (35%) 606,000 16.03% 635,000 16.08%
3. Temporary Services 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
\ A. Total Office Staff 2,336,400 61.80% 2,449,400 62.02%
B Office Expenses
1. Office Improvements 10,000 0.26% 20,000 0.51%
2. Equipment / Purchase and Rent 4,500 0.12% 7,500 0.19%
3. Supplies 3,300 0.09% 3,300 0.08%
4. Printing and Postage 76,000 2.01% 89,700 2.27%
\ B. Total Office Expenses 93,800 2.48% 120,500 3.05%
C Training and Travel
1. Training/Travel Board 15,000 0.40% 22,000 0.56%
2. Training/Travel Staff 30,500 0.81% 40,500 1.03%
\ C. Total Training and Travel 45,500 1.21% 62,500 1.59%
D Data Processing Expenses
1. Pension Gold Hosting and Modifications 179,841 4.76% 153,158 3.88%
2. Pension Gold Annual License Fee 163,000 4.31% 148,545 3.76%
3. Regional Computer Center (ETS) 7,080 0.19% 6,010 0.15%
4. Hardware and Software for PCs 54,752 1.45% 91,780 2.32%
5. Other 85,202 2.25% 120,073 3.04%
‘ D. Total IT Expenses 489,875 12.96% 519,566 13.15%
E_Professional Services
1. Actuarial Fees 171,942 4.55% 170,215 4.31%
2. Consulting Fees 225,500 5.96% 245,000 6.20%
3. Legal Services 270,000 7.14% 242,000 6.13%
4. Retiree Locator Fees 1,500 0.04% 1,500 0.04%
5. Treasury, Accounts and Audits 9,541 0.25% 13,766 0.35%
\ E. Total Professional Services 678,482 17.94% 672,481 17.03%
F_Other Expenses
1. Board Meeting Expenses 2,500 0.07% 2,500 0.06%
2. Membership and Subscriptions 5,000 0.13% 5,000 0.13%
\ F. Total Other 7,500 0.20% 7,500 0.19%
G. Insurance
Fiduciary Insurance 129,107 3.41% 117,370 2.97%
\ G. Total Insurance 129,107 3.41% 117,370 2.97%
\Total Operating Costs 3,780,664 100.00% 3,949,317 100.00%
II. MEMBER BENEFITS EXPENSES
A. Pensions 211,424,300 86.56% 205,661,900 86.26%
B. Return of Contributions 3,246,000 1.33% 3,091,000 1.30%
C. Death Benefits 550,000 0.23% 550,000 0.23%
D. Medical 29,022,400 11.88% 28,780,500 12.07%
E. Other Expenses 0 0.00% 333,000 0.14%
‘Total Benefit Costs 244,242,700 100.00% 238,416,400 100.00%
2026 % of 2024 % of
BUDGET Contributions BUDGET Contributions
III. CONTRIBUTIONS
A. City Contributions 58,944,050 67.16% 50,922,275 65.08%
B. Employee Contributions (9.0%) 26,687,500 30.41% 25,036,900 32.00%
C. Retiree Medical Premiums 2,124,500 2.42% 2,271,500 2.90%
D. Transfers In (Out) Reciprocity (250,000) -0.29% (250,000) -0.32%
E. Miscellaneous 265,000 0.30% 265,000 0.34%
\Total Contributions 87,771,050 100.00% 78,245,675 100.00%
IV. NET INVESTMENT RETURNS
A. Gross Returns 191,892,185 179,025,354
B. Investment Expenses
1. Custodial Fees 182,000 232,000
2. Investment Consultant 270,000 270,000
3. Investment Management Fees 10,624,000 8,569,000
Total Investment Expenses 11,076,000 0.43% 9,071,000 0.38%
\Net Investment Returns (Budget 7.5%) 180,816,185 169,954,354
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 20,563,871 5,834,312




city of
CINCINNAT]I ‘L

RETIREMENT

Cincinnati Retirement System:
Proposed 2026 Budget

December 2025



Summary of changes:
* Office Staff
» Office Expenses
* Training & Travel
« Data Processing
* Professional Services
* Other Expenses
* |nsurance

« Total Op. Exps. Increase:

-$113.0k
-26.7K
-17.0k
-26.7K

+6.0Kk
+0.0k
+11.7K

-$168.7k

city of
CINCINNAT] @

RETIREMENT



Cincinnati Retirement System

City Manager's Office
T

CRS Board of Trustees

Executive Director

Health Care / Payroll
Admin

Pension Operations

Information Systems

Finance/Investment

Member Educ. and
Communications

Supervising
Management Analyst

Division Manager

Kyle Brown

Computer Systems
Analyst

Finance Manager

Terra Williams

Sr. Admin. Specialist
(Member Couns.) (new
2025)

JoAnne Niesen

Braden McMahon
|

Keith Miller
|

Sr. Admin. Specialist

Renee Kabin

Administrative
Specialist

Kathryn Combs

Senior Computer
Progammer Analyst

Justin Meeks

Supervising
Management Analyst

Keva Eleam

Administrative
Specialist

Vacant

Administrative
Specialist

Jamie Litchfield
I

Administrative
Specialist

Ashley Hacker

Administrative
Technician

Julia Ellis

Jr. Accountant

Toma Dhital

Investment Specilaist -
Management Analyst
(2025)

TBD

CINCINNATI

RETIREMENT




«  CRS has built-in staff redundancy and increased capacity
since 2023.

e For 2026 CRS has eliminated one FTE headcount from
budget & reduced higher seasoned salaries.

Continued 2026 objectives:

e«  Customer Service and Member Education
 1-on-1 member counseling
« Early & mid-career member education

 Hired investment analyst
«  Build in institutional knowledge on investment managers and

asset class design.
city of
CINCINNATI @

RETIREMENT : 4



INNATI RETIREMENT
0Sed 2026 Op. Exps. Budget

» Data Processing: -$26.7k (-$105.0K in "25)
« CRS made substantial progress in ‘24 & '25 on our data processing
Improvements to enhance customer experience: imaged member files,
multi-factor authentication for security, etc.

2026 Data improvements:

. Business Continuity Processing (BCP)
LRS Retirement Solutions staff will perform essential PensionGold-related
operations - including payroll processing assistance with annual tax file

generation, and employer reporting.

. Disaster Recovery (DR) Environment
LRS Hosting division, a DR environment, is available to ensure system
access during a disruption. Furthering on CRS’s Disaster Recovery Plan.

city of
CINCINNAT] @

RETIREMENT



essional S
| +$100K last year due to CEM benchmarking and non
retainer Cheiron work.

Expect minimal change in professional services for 2026
budget.

city of
CINCINNATI ‘Q :
. 6

RETIREMENT



ummary of changes:
Custodial Fees:
Investment Consultant:
Inv. Mgmt. Fees:

Total Investment Exps:

-$50.0k
+$0.0k
+2,055.0K

+$2,005.0k

CINCINNATI @

RETIREMENT .

7



CINCINNATT RETIREMENT S

—Proposed 2026 Ir

. Investment mgmt. fees projected to be higher
« +3$2,055K — As measured by basis points, still below
NCPERSs average investment management fee at 53bps
(2025 Study/Survey).
 Increase due to increased asset value.
*  Private credit investment.
 Perceived increase by going direct in private equity.

Benefits to going direct versus Fund of Funds:

« Eliminates double fees (fees to be reduced).
 Provides more accurate depiction of true fees.
 Negotiable, LP — friendly terms.

« Greater transparency and & cost control.

cityof
CINCINNATI @
8

RETIREMENT



11/14/25 Asset Balance (unaudited) =
$2,492,234,536

« Operating Expenses: $3,780,664
*0.1517% or 15.17 bps

* Investment Expenses: $11,126,000
*0.4464% or 44.64 bps

* Total: 0.5981% or 59.81 bps

* FY25 Budget: 0.5448% or 54.48 bps

cityof
CINCINNATI @
9

RETIREMENT



ement Systems Study

Figure 24 - Average Plan Expenses (in basis points)

52 53
44 47
Investment 40 27 43 42
Manager 36
Expenses
22
20
13 17 15 17 . 18
Administrative 10
Expenses
20201 20202 20211 20212 20221 20222 20231 20232 20241
Fiscal Year-End Period

Average Plan Expenses (basis points) TOTAL investment manager expenses=507
TOTAL administrative expenses=493 (see Appendix for sample size by fiscal year-end period)

city of
CINCINNATI #C

RETIREMENT ’ 10



Prepare annual comprehensive financial report - Completed

Prepare & present CRS Annual Report to Council — Completed

 Incrementally increased contribution rate from the City to

18.5% of covered payroll - Completed

Eye Care RFP - Completed
Succession Planning: review CRS Department staffing positions
- Completed
Completed Fiduciary Audit Recommendations - Completed
Updated Governance Manual - Completed
Continued improvement to customer service - Members

Counselor Hire in Q2’25

city of
CINCINNAT] @

RETIREMENT



61

2026 CRS Board and Committee Schedule city of
CINCINNATI ‘Q
City Hall -- Council Chambers RETIREMENT E:
Date Investment Governance Performance Evaluation Elections Benefits BOARD
Jan. 8 1:00 PM 2:00 PM
Feb. 5 12:00 PM 2:00 PM
Mar. 5 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM
Apr. 2 1:00 PM 12:00 PM 2:00 PM
May 7 12:00 PM 2:00 PM
Jun. 4 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM
Jul. 2 1:00 PM 12:00 PM 2:00 PM
Aug. 6 12:00 PM 2:00 PM
Sept. 3 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM
Oct. 1 1:00 PM 2:00 PM
Nov. 5 12:00 PM 2:00 PM
Dec. 3 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM




	1 Board Agenda 12-4-2025
	City of Cincinnati Retirement System
	Board of Trustees Meeting
	December 4, 2025 / 2:00 P.M.
	City Hall, Council Chambers and via Zoom
	Members       CRS Staff
	Bill Moller, Chair      Jon Salstrom
	Tom Gamel, Vice Chair
	Kathy Rahtz
	Mark Menkhaus, Jr.      Law
	Monica Morton       Kevin Frank
	Seth Walsh
	Aliya Riddle
	Sonya Morris
	Tom West
	Call to Order
	Public Comment
	Approval of Minutes
	 November 6, 2025 (XX)
	Report on Benefits & Investment Committee
	Informational – Staff Report
	 Marquette Investment Report (XX)
	 Staff Update
	 S&P and Moody’s Bond Rating Report
	 Fiduciary Audit Recommendations Update (XX)
	New Business
	 CEM Pension Administration Benchmarking Presentation (XX)
	 2026 Budget Review (XX)
	 Board and Committee 2026 Schedule
	Adjournment
	Next Meeting: Thursday, January 8, 2025, 2:00 P.M. City Hall Council Chambers and via Zoom

	2 CRS Board Minutes 11-6-25
	3 CRS 10-2025
	4 Final S&P Report
	Overview
	Rationale
	Security
	Credit highlights
	Environmental, social, and governance

	Outlook
	Downside scenario
	Upside scenario


	5 Final Moodys Press Release
	6 Funston Summary of Recommendations with assignments
	Complete Set

	7 Final CEM Investment Benchmarking Analysis DY2024 -- CRS
	Slide 1: Investment and Pension Administration Benchmarking 
	Slide 2: CEM Benchmarking Seeks to Meaningfully Improve Lives of Pensioners Globally with $14 Trillion in AUM
	Slide 3: Pension Administration Evaluation
	Slide 4: Insights are based on the 78 global pension systems that participate in the benchmarking subscription.
	Slide 5: Your peer group consists of the following 9 participants:
	Slide 6: Your total service score was 64 out of 100. This was above the peer median of 62.
	Slide 7: Service score by member journey and activity
	Slide 8: Service score by member journey and activity
	Slide 9: Before adjusting for economies of scale, your total pension administration cost of $349 per active member and annuitant was $137 below the peer average of $486.
	Slide 10: Size matters: you had an economies of scale disadvantage relative to the peer average. After adjusting the cost of each peer for its scale advantage/disadvantage, your cost was $442 below the adjusted peer average of $791.
	Slide 11
	Slide 12: Your Major Project costs of $0 per active member and annuitant was $61 below the peer average of $61.
	Slide 13: Differences in costs can also be attributed to factors such as cost environment, and differences in transaction volumes.
	Slide 14: Where are you doing more/fewer transactions than your peers?
	Slide 15: Key takeaways:
	Slide 16: Investment Benchmarking
	Slide 17: This benchmarking report compares your cost and performance to the 270 funds in CEM's extensive pension database.
	Slide 18: The most valuable comparisons for cost performance are to your custom peer group because size impacts costs.
	Slide 19: Your 2024 net total return of 9.7% was above both the U.S. Public median of 8.9% and the peer median of 9.6%.
	Slide 20: Your 2024 policy return of 9.8% was above the U.S. Public median of 9.4% and equal to the peer median of 9.8%.
	Slide 21
	Slide 22: Net value added is the component of total return from active management. Your 2024 net value added was -0.1%.
	Slide 23: Comparisons of your 2024 net return and net value added by major asset class:
	Slide 24: Benchmark cost analysis suggests that, after adjusting for fund size and asset mix, your fund was above benchmark cost by 10.1 basis points in 2024.
	Slide 25: Your fund achieved a 2024 net value added of -13 bps and excess cost of 10 bps on the cost-effectiveness chart.
	Slide 26

	8 - 2026 Budget Template (version 1) revised
	DATA Input

	9 Proposed CY2026 CRS Budget
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11

	10 2026 Board Schedule
	Committee Schedule




